ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT J. REARDON,) Petitioner,) vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Respondent.)

÷

Ĩ

Ì

JUL 13 2000

THOMAS D. HALL

Supreme Court Case No. SC00-1395

5th DCA Case No. 5D97-2926

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JOHN M. SELDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0886841 112 Orange Ave., Ste. A Daytona Beach, Fl 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

ī

Petitioner was charged by Information with attempted first degree murder as Count 1, and with burglary with assault or battery or with dangerous weapon as Count 2. At trial, it was shown that Petitioner had a homosexual relationship with the victim, Thomas Rawson. At some point before the offense, the victim broke off the relationship and Petitioner kept calling him and trying to contact him. On July 2, 1997, Petitioner broke into a residence while the victim was in the shower, and attacked him with a knife. The victim was stabbed in the stomach.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty to the lesser included offense of aggravated battery on Count 1, and found Petitioner guilty as charged in Count 2 of "burglary with an assault or battery and/or burglary while armed". This charging error, and the verdict form employed, made it unclear which specific enhancement of the offense the jury found.

At sentencing, Petitioner renewed a motion for judgment of acquittal alleging that a conviction on both counts of the information violates the double jeopardy provisions of the federal and state constitutions. After a hearing on the motion, the trial court granted the motion, relying on <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 662 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), and acquitted Petitioner of the aggravated battery

conviction in Count 1, as being the same ground for the enhancement of the burglary to a first degree felony. The State timely appealed.

Ť

The Fifth District Court of Appeal ruled that both burglary with assault or battery and aggravated battery each contain an element that the other does not, and in their view of <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299 (1932), and Section 775.021 (4)(b), Florida Statutes (1997), convictions on both charges did not violate double jeopardy.

A timely notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was filed on June 20, 2000.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ï

I

This Honorable Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Article V, Sections 3 (b)(3) and (4), of the Florida Constitution, because the decision herein expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other Districts and with the prior decisions of this Court.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE INSTANT CASE PURSUANT TO RULE 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv), F.R.A.P., AS IT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICTS AND OF THIS COURT.

The issue in this case, never specifically addressed by this Court, is whether the enhancement of burglary, from a second degree to a first degree felony, based on an associated "assault or battery", was intended by the legislature to mean <u>only</u> simple assault and simple battery, or whether, instead, it incorporates all levels of those offense in Chapter 784, Florida Statutes, such as aggravated assault and aggravated battery. Petitioner respectfully submits that the latter is the case.

Here, the Fifth District ruled otherwise, holding that the aggravating element of use of a deadly weapon removed aggravated battery from the battery referred to in Section 810.02 (2)(a), Florida Statutes (1997). Under that section, a conviction for both burglary with battery, and for simple battery, is clearly double jeopardy under Section 775.021 (4)(b), Florida Statutes (1997). <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1999); <u>Rohan v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

Here, the Fifth District expressly receded from its earlier opinion directly on

point in <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), upon which other Districts have relied (eg. <u>Rohan</u> and <u>Lewis</u>, <u>supras</u>.). It did so, in part, because the Second District in <u>Washington v. State</u>, Case Number 2D99-00913 (Fla. 2nd DCA, January 12, 2000), receded from its earlier case of <u>Henderson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 727 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999), on the same issue. This was, in turn, based on the First District's decision in <u>Billiot v. State</u>, 711 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), which expressly disagreed with <u>Crawford</u>, <u>supra</u>.

÷.

However, Petitioner submits that these recent decisions, including the one in this case, are in conflict with this Court's decisions which hold that double jeopardy precludes separate convictions for "offenses which differed only in <u>degree</u>, as opposed to in <u>substance</u>" [emphasis added]. <u>Sirmons v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1994); <u>Goodwin v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 1994); <u>Thompson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 650 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1995).

Since the 1988 amendments to Section 775.021(4), wherein the legislature effectively overrode <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987), the application of the *Blockburger* test has been inconsistent and muddied, leading the Fifth District to comment again recently in <u>Cassleman v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1576 (Fla. 5th DCA, June 30, 2000), that Florida's double jeopardy case law is "far from clear". Therefore, this Honorable Court has jurisdiction to resolve the conflicts created by this case with cases of other Districts and with the previous decisions of this Court.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to exercise its

discretionary jurisdiction and accept the instant case for review.