ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS D. HALL

JUL 25 2000

CLERK, SURREME COURT

ROBERT J. REARDON,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC00-1395

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 618550

DENISE O. SIMPSON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0981486

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. 5TH FLOOR DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118 (904)238-4990/fax (904) 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellant/Cross-Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, ROBERT J. REARDON, the Appellee/Cross-Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached in slip opinion form [hereinafter referenced as "slip op."] to this jurisdictional brief of Respondent. It also can be found at State v. Reardon, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1336 (Fla. 5th DCA June 1, 2000) (corrected dissent, State v. Reardon, 24 Fla L. Weekly D1577 (Fla. 5th DCA June 1, 2000).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appropriate focus upon the operative facts, as contained within the "four corners" of the Fifth District Court of Appeals's decision, reveals no express and direct conflict with this court's decisions in Sirmons v. State, 634 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1994), Goodwin v. State, 634 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1994), and Thompson v. State, 650 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1995). The Fifth DCA did not decide that aggravated battery and first degree burglary were varying degrees of the same crime, and if these offenses were varying degrees of the same crime that Petitioner's convictions for both could be sustained without violating § 775.021(4)(b)(2), FLA. STAT., and principles of double jeopardy. Additionally, there is no express and direct conflict between the Fifth DCA decision and Lewis v. State, 740 So.2d 82 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), and Rohan v. State, 696 So.2d 901 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) which are cited by Petitioner. The preceding two decisions only addressed convictions for a first degree burglary and battery convictions, not first degree burglary and aggravated battery convictions as in Reardon's case. Therefore, this court does not have jurisdiction to hear Petitioner's case, and this petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THERE IS NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN SIRMONS V. STATE, 634 SO.2D 153 (FLA. 1994), GOODWIN V. STATE, 634 SO.2D 157 (FLA. 1994), AND THOMPSON V. STATE, 650 SO.2D 969 (FLA 1994), OR ANY OTHER CASES CITED BY PETITIONER. (Restated)

Jurisdictional Criteria

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The constitution provides:

The supreme court ... [m] ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

Accord Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986) (rejected "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction. Reaves, supra; Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) ("regardless of whether they are accompanied by a dissenting or concurring opinion"). In addition, it is the "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies

jurisdiction for review by certiorari." Jenkins, 385 So. 2d at 1359.

In Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained:

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. The revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

Accordingly, the determination of conflict jurisdiction distills to whether the District Court's decision reached a result opposite to this court's decisions in Sirmons, supra, Goodwin, supra or Thompson, supra, or the two district court of appeals cases cited by Appellant. The answer is there is no opposite result, and Petitioner has failed to establish conflict jurisdiction.

The decision below is not in "express and direct" conflict with this court's decisions in Sirmons, Goodwin, and Thompson.

The Florida Supreme Court cases that Petitioner relies on to establish conflict jurisdiction all address § 775.021(4)(b)(2), FLA. STAT. This statute prohibits multiple convictions for "(o)ffenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute" In Sirmons, supra, the defendant had been convicted of

grand theft of an automobile and robbery with a weapon arising from taking one automobile. This court found that these crimes were "aggravated forms of the same underlying offense distinguished only by degree factors." Id. at 154. In Goodwin, supra, the defendant had been convicted of UBAL manslaughter and vehicular homicide based on one death. This court found that \$775.021(4)(b)(2) prohibited these multiple convictions because the two crimes were "aggravated forms of a single underlying offense distinguished only be degree factors." Id. at 157. Finally, in Thompson, the defendant had been convicted of sexual battery on a physically incapacitated victim, and sexual activity while in custodial authority of a child, and both crimes were based on one sexual act. This court found that in light of Sirmons and Goodwin, the two convictions were improper because they were based on a single act and the offenses were "distinguished only by degree elements." Id. at 969.

In the present case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal decided to "recede from Crawford based upon (its) conclusion that there is no statutory or constitutional bar to the entry of convictions for both aggravated battery and burglary with a battery arising out of the same criminal episode."

(slip op. p. 3) To reach this conclusion, the court in its analysis found that first degree burglary and aggravated battery were not degrees of the same crime so \$775.021(4)(b)(2), FLA.

¹ Crawford v. State, 662 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

STAT. was not applicable. Petitioner is attempting to establish jurisdiction based on the reasoning of the court, and not the actual decision. This is not a sufficient basis to establish conflict jurisdiction. If the Fifth DCA held that even convictions for varying degrees of the same crime could be sustained without violating \$775.021(4)(b)(2), FLA. STAT., or double jeopardy principles then there would have been express and direct conflict. However, no such decision was entered and Petitioner has failed to establish this court's jurisdiction.

The decision below is not in "express and direct" conflict with the two District Court of Appeals cases cited by Petitioner

Petitioner in his jurisdictional statement alleges that conflict jurisdiction exists due to express and direct conflict "with decisions of other districts and of this court." (PJB. 3, 4 Petitioner cites to Lewis v. State, 740 So.2d 82 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), and Rohan v. State, 696 So.2d 901 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). However, these two decisions addressed convictions for a first degree burglary and battery, not first degree burglary and aggravated battery as in Reardon's case. Therefore, there is no express and direct conflict between the district court of appeals on which this court can base its jurisdiction.

Washington v. State, 25 Fla.L.Weekly D167 (2d DCA January 12, 2000), (receding from Henderson v. State, 727 So.2d 284 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), and Billiot v. State, 711 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) are also cited by Appellant as cases which are in line with the decision entered in his case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court decline to exercise jurisdiction.